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application.s (it cannot be den.ied such alternatives were offered in the comment process), and the

PTO's own statistics demonstrate that the continuation application limitations will have a

negligible effect on the backlog, at best. Indeed, the PTa itself states that less than 2.7% of

applications filed in fiscal year 2006 were a third or subsequent continuation or continuation-in-

part application. See 72 Fed. Reg. at 46756. Hence, the PTO cannot meaningfully hope to

reduce its backlog by revising the continuing-application process.

117. Further, the roles illegally apply retroactively to already pending applications.

118- By restricting statutory continuation application. rights and by failing to justify the

new rules governing continuation applications, the Director and PTO have acted in a manner

"not in accordance with law," and «in excess ofstatutory jurisdiction and authority," 5 U.S.c.

§ 706, under 35 U.S.c. §§ 2 and 120 ofthe Patent Act Consistent with the Administrative

Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 551, et seq_, then, a reviewing court has a duty "to hold unlawful and

set aside agency action" that is "in. excess ofstatutoryjurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or

short of statutory right" or "arbitrary and capricious." 5 U.S.C. § 706.

THIRD COUNT

The Final Rules Are Beyond the PTO's Power .Because Tiley Retroactively Change the
Legal Consequences of Already Filed Continuation Applications and Patent Prosecution

Strategies.

119. GSK re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in.

paragraphs 1 through 101 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

120. Congress did not explicitly grant the PTa retroactive rulemaking powers in 35

U.S.C. § 2(b)(2) and, thus, the PTO lacks such power. See Bowen v. Georgetown Univ. Hosp.,

488 U.S. 204, 208 (I 988); see also Leland v. Federal Ins. Admin., 934 F.2d 524, 527 (4th CiT.

1991).
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121. In applying the Final Rules retroactively in certain respects, the PTa exceeded its

authority. For instance) the Final Rules' restriction on continuation applications will apply to

applications pending on November 1,2007. Continuation applications that have already

ex.ceeded the new ceiIlng oftwo such applications will be permitted only one more such

application as ofright See 72 Fed. Reg. at 46826.

122. The PTO argues that applying the Final Rules to existing applications is not

retroactive because the agency is merely applying its new mles to a pending case, citing

Landgrajv. USI Film Prods., 511 U.S. 244,255 (1994), and citing cases involving the FCC

where the D.C. Circuit held that applications for licenses did not create vested property rights.

See, e.g., Community TV, Inc. v. FCC, 216 F.3d 1133, 1143 (D.C. Cir. 2000). The PTa neglects

to cite any patent application cases and with good reason.. "It is now well settled that patent

applicatlons are property." Winchester v. Commissioner, 27 RT.A. 798, 1993 WL 231 (Bd. Tax.

App. 1933); see also Ruclcelshaus v. Monsanto Co., 467 U.S. 986 (1984) (finding that intellectual

property., such as a trade secret, is constitutionally protected private property). Hence, changes to

the TIlles on patent appllcations mid-stream.-while such applications are pending-are

inherently retroactlve, and thus unlawful under. Bowen.

123. By applying amend.ed rules to pendin.g patent applications in various respects, the

Dir.ector and PTO have acted in a manner ((not in accordance with law," and "in excess of

statutory jurisdiction and authority/' 5 U.S.C. § 706, under the Supreme Court's retroactjvity law

severely restricting agency powers to engage in mlemaking of that nature. Under the

Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.c. § 551, et seq., a reviewing court thus has a duty "to h.old

unlawful an.d set aside agency action" that is "in excess ofstatutory jurisdiction, authority, or
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limitations, or short of statutory right." 5 U.S.C. § 706. Accordingly. all aspects of the Final

Rules that apply to pending applications must be set aside and enjoined.

FOURTH COUNT

The PTO Lacks the Authority to Restrict the Number of Claims That Can Be Presented in
a Patent Application.

124. GSK re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 through to 1 ofthjs Complaint as though £idly set forth herein.

125. The Final Rules restrict the ability ofGSK, and other applicants~.to a limited

number of claims, j .e., a maximum of five independent and/or twenty-five total claim.s (without

filing the onerous ESD). Further, the rules apply retroactively to certain applications. These

limitations, and their retroactive application., ex:ceed the bounds ofCon.gr.ess' grant of authority-

See 35 U.S.C. §§ 111(a)(2) and 112 ~ 2. These sections do not remotely provide the Director

with authority or discretion to limit the number of claims an applicant may file

126. The PTO, again, invokes an administrative efficiency rationale in attemptin.g to

justify its new restrictions On the number of claims that an applicant may file. As with the

continuation application rules, the PTO's efficiency rationale is similarly arbitrary and capricious

here because it is unsupported by data and insufficiently explained. In particuhir, the PTO failed

to consider the dynamic effects that its rules limiting the number ofclaim.s would have on. patent

applications. For instance, commenters explained that restricting the number ofclaims would

simply result in dividing what would. have been filed as one application into multiple

application.s, which would counterproductively increa.se the number ofpatent applications, and

thus do nothing to reduce the PTO's backlog of unaddressed applications.

127. W1ille the PTO imposes other restrictions designed topreve:nt dividing patent

applications and to limit restrict continuing applications, the Final Rules, when taken as a whole,
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will have the effect ofprecluding the filing ofsome perfectly meritoriou.s clajms to invention.

The PTO lacks the authority to refuse to examine c1a.ims, nor has it provided an adequate

explanation for doing so. See 35 U.S.c. §§ 111, 112, 1.31.

128. The PTO may explore the goal of incr.easing its efficiency in processin.g

application.s, but may not limit the number ofclaims to reduce its backlog. Section 2(b)(2)(C)

grants the PTO the power to seek greater efficiencies, but restricting rights to pursue valid cJ.aims

under other provisions ofthe Paten.t Act is not an available power to the PTO because that is

"inconsistent with law"-i.e., with other provisions ofthc Act beyond Section 2. Hence, the

Final Rules are both ultra vires under t.he Patent Act and arbitrary and capricious.

129. By restricting the number ofclaims that can be filed by patent applicants, the

Director and PTO have acted in a man.ner "not in accordance with law," and "in excess of

statutory jurisdiction and authority," 5 U.S.c. § 706, an.d violated the Patent Act, 35 U.S.c. §§ 2,

111~ 11.2, and 1.31. Under the Administrative Procedure Act,S U.S.C. § 551 et seq., a reviewing

court has a duty "to hold unlawful and set aside agency action" that is "in excess of statutory

jurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or short of statutory right" or "arbitrary and capricious/' 5

U.S.C. § 706.

FIFrHCOUNT

Restrictions in. the Final Rules on the Rules for Continued Examinations Are Contrary to
the Patent Act.

130. aSK rc-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1. through 101 ofthis Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

131. The Final Rules restrict the ability of GSK, and other applicants. to fiJe RCEs.

Am.euded Section 1.114 limits an applicant to only one RCE (without the need for .filin.g a

petition and malting a specified showing). which runs afoul of the express language of 35 U.S,C-

44



§ 132(b). Section 132(b) requires the Director to continue examining the application at the

request of the appljcant. Further, Section 1.11.4 applies retroactively to pen.ding applications.

132. In enacting § 132, Congress did not grant the Director the authority to restrict or

the discretion to refuse to continue examining an application after receiving an. applicant's ReE.

Accordingly, the PTO has overstepped its con.gressionally authorized powers in promulgating

limitations on RCEs.

133. By restricting the process for requesting .continued examinations (i.e., the process

for RCEs), thc Director and PTO have acted in a manner "not in accordance with law," and "in

excess of statutory jurisdiction and authority," 5 U.S.C. § 706, violating the Patent Act, 5 U.S.C.

§§ 2 & 132. Under the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.c. § 551 et seq., a reviewing court

has a duty "to hold unlawful aDd set aside agency action" that is "in excess of statutory

jurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or short of statutory right." 5 U.S.C- § 706.

SIXTH COUNT

Tbe Final Rules Are Procedurally Defective in Various Respects for Failure to Provide a
Required Notice and a Comment Opportunity Before the Proposed Regulations Were

Amended in Wa.ys That Could Not Reasonably Have Been Anticipated.

134. GSK re-alleges and iucorporates by reference the allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 through 101 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

135. In NPRM 2, the PTa proposed restricting applicants to ten representative claims,

whether all independent or a combination of independent and dependent claims, that would be

examined before the requirement of filing an ESD was triggered. The PTa did not propose

limiting the total number of independent and dependent claims an applicant could file in a single

application without triggering such a requirement.

136. Despite widespread opposition registered in the comments received by the PTO to

creating such arbitrary numerical thresholds before the onerous ESD requirement would be
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triggered, the Final Rules impose even more stringent restrictions: reducing to five the number of

independent claims and placing a completely new restriction (at 25) on the total number of

claims that could be filed in an application before the examinat'ion support document

requirement would be triggered.

137. In light of the initial notice, interested parties could not have anticipated an

increase in the restriction on the number of claims, particularly in view of the widespread

opposition to the proposal in NPRM 2. The new standards were not a logical outgrowth of the

initial role-making and therefore provided inadequate notice to satisfy the 5 U.S.c. § 553(b)

requirement that ('general notice of proposed rule making shall be published. in the Federal

Register."

138. Final rules that are not logical outgrowths of proposed agency rules deprive the

public of the notice the APA requires for the purpose ofpermitting intelligent and targeted

com.ments to be filed expressing conCCIllS with any age11CY proposal. Hence, final rules that are

not true logical outgrowths of proposed rules effectively sandbag the regulated public.

Accordingly, the PTO's rules limiting the number of c.laims represent procedural violations of

the notice requirement for rulem~.ng in the APA. See 5 U.S.C. § 553(b). Thus. the PTO's

limitat1Qns on the number ofclaims must be invalidated because theywere promulgated ''without

observance ofproceduIe required by law." See 5 U-S.C. § 706(2)(D) (authorizing the setting

aside of agency regulations issued in procedurally defective ways)_

SEVENTH COUNT

The Fjnal Rules are Va.gue and Do Not Put GSK on Sufficient Notice of How to Comply

139. GSK re-alleges and incorporates by refere.nce the allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 through 101 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.
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1.40. The Final Rules are so vague that they are incapable ofbemg complied with and

do not put GSK on sufficient notice of what it must do to comply. Under n.ew 37 c.P.R.

1.75(b)(1), if an application contains more than five independelJt claims and/or twenty-five total

claims, an applicant must file an ESD in compliance with new 37 C.F.R. 1.265. 72 Fed. Reg. at

46836.

141. Newly created § 1.265 sets forth the requirements of an ESD, one of which, §

1.265(a)(1), requires that the applicant perfonn a preexamination search. Jd. at 46842. Rule

1.265(b) sets forth requirements of a preexamination search as including the searching of"U.S.

patents and patent application pUblicai1ons, foreign patent documents and non~patentliterature."

[d.

142. Newly added § 1.265(b), however, does not provide any metes or bounds on the

scope of thc search and, as a result, GSK cannot be certain. about how to comply with tins

regulation. For instance, the rule docs not indicate whether the applicant must conduct electronic

searches, manual searches, or both; in which countries databases the applicant must search; or

which libraries must be searched. Certain.ly, the cost of searching could be quite large and the

rule does not set forth an expensl? cap or limitation. In light of the vagueness of § 1.265, GSK

does not lmow how to comply with the rule and, therefore, the PTO should be enjoined from

implementing the role.

143. In another example, 37 C.F.R. § 1.75 directs that "More than one claim maybe

presented provided they differ substantially from each other and are not unduly multiplied." The

tenn "not unduly multiplied" in the regulation is also incomprehensible and does not put GSK on

notice ofwhat is pen:o.issible. This kind ofvague language can impermissibly be used at the
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discretion of the PTO to mean alrnost anything, and therefore is not a well defined regulation

capable of compliance or organization of business activities.

144. Specifically, by issuing final regulations that arc vague and indeflnite and thereby

"either forbjd[] or require[] the doing of an act in tenns so vague that men ofcommon

i.ntelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application,." United States

v. Lanier, 520 U.S. 259, 265 (1997), the Director and PTO have acted in a m.anner "contrary to

constitutional right, power, privilege, or immunity," 5 U.S.C. § 706, under the Fifth Amendment

of thc Constitution, entitling aSK to an injunction against implemen.tation ofthe Final Rules.

EIGHTH COUNT

The Final Rules Work an Unconstitutional, Ultra Vires, and Arbitrary and Capricious
Taking of GSK's Patent and Patent Application Property Rights.

145_ GSK re-alleges and in.corporates by reference the allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 through 101 ofthis Complai.nt as thougb fnlly set forth herein.

146. Patents and patent applications are constitution.ally protected private property.

See 35 U.S.C. § 261; Consolidated Fruit-Jar Co. v. Wright, 84 U.S. 92, 96 (1876) ("A patent for

all invention is as much property as a patent for land."); Winchester v. Commissioner, 27 B.T.A.

798, 1993 WL 231 (Bd. Tax. App. 1933) CIt is now well settled that patent applications are

property."); Ruckelshau$ v. Monsanto Co., 467 U.S. 986 (1984) (fmding that intellectual

property, such as a trade secret, is constitutionally protected private property).

147. In barring GSK from :filing more than two continuation applications through the

use of a petition, and effectively restricting GSK to no more than. five independent and twenty

five total claims because the ESD requirement is vague, incomprehensible and potentially

incapable ofbcing complied with, th.e Final Rules operate to destroy aSK's patent rights in those
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inventions. Accordingly, the Final Rules operate as a per se taking of GSK's property rights.

See Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Coun.cil, 505 U.S. 1.003, 1019-20 (1992).

148. The Final Rules also significantly impact GSK's reliance interests and its valid

expectations following the investment of sizable sums of capital. GSK has invested significantly

in the research and development ofphannaceuticals. It is unquestionable that pharmaceutical

companies devote billions ofdollars in research and developing phannaceuticals. GSK's

development cycle is lengthy. To protect its investment, GSK relies heavily on patents and.

patent applications, inclUding continuation patent applications. GSK has disclosed inventions to

the public in its patent applications with the expectation that it will be afforded the oppoIt1.ll1.i.ty to

patent the fruits of its continued research an.d development efforts through the vehicle of

continuati.on applications under 35 V-S.C. § 120.

149. The Rules substantially impact GSK's expectations because the Final Rules

abrid.ge substantially GSK's ability to protect its continuing research efforts by curtailing its

ability to file continuation patent applications. The Final Rules further vitiate GSK's

expectations by restricting its ability to file continuing applications, requests for continued

examination, and abUity to file more than :fi.ve independent andior twenty-five total claims.

150. Hence, the Final Rules, if they are allowed to become effective, will effectively

wipe Qut significant capital investments made on reliance on the existing patent application

system and thereby alter the preexisting property rights under the Patent Act, threatening an

unconstitutional taking.

151. The PTO was informed about th.e takings issues raised by its Final Rules, yet

decided to proceed with. them anyway without completely or adequately addressing those

concerns. Hence, the rules on continuation paten.ts as applied to patents initially filed before the .
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effective date oftbe Final Rules are arbitrary and capricious. See, e.g., NWF v. ICC, 850 F.2d

694, 705-06 (D.C. eir. 1988); NWF v. Hodel, 839 F.2d 694, 750-51 (D.C. Cir. 1988); see also

State Farm, 463 U.S. at 43 (an agency rule is arbitrary and capricious ~'ifthe agency ... has

entirely failed to consider an important aspect of the problem"). Therefore, the retToactive

provisions in the Final Rules must be set aside under Section 706(2) of the Administrative

Procedur.e Act.

152. Additionally, agencies lack the power to exercise the federal government's

eminent domain powers unless and until they have been delegated such power. See.. e.g., United

States v. Parcel with Improvements Thereon in Square South of12, D.C., 100 F. Supp. 498, 504

(D.D.C. 1951) ("While the power of eminent domain is an inherent ri.ght of sovereignty, it is n.ot

open to question that such power lies donnant until legislative action is had pointing out the

occasions, modes, agencies and conditions for its exercise.") (relying on I Nichols on Eminent

Domain, 3d Ed., 203, § 3.2, citing Secombe v. Railroad Co., 90 U.S. (23 Wall.) 108 (1874»).

153. Because the PTa lacks the power to issue substantive rulem.akings, it similarly

lacks the power to engage in takings of any kind (whether regulatory or physical). Congress has

simply not conferred l1mt power ~m the PTa. Hence, the PTO's regulations cannot be permitted

to diminish or disparage property rights in patent applications, and because the Final Rules do so,

they must be enjoined. Specifically, by issuing final regulations that set forth binding and

mandatory rules that limit unlawfully the number ofcontinuing applications, requests for

continued examination, and claims that may be filed, the Director and PTO have acted in a

manner "contrary to constitutional right, power, privilege, or i,mmunity," 5 U.S.c. § 706, under

the Fifth Amendment ofthe Constitution, entitling GSK to an injunction against implem.entation

of the Final Rules.
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WHEREFORE, GSK prays for judgment against Defendants as follows:

A. Maintain the status quo and grant a preliminary and
pennancnt injunction enjoining and staying i.mplementation ofthe
Fin.al RuIes pending resolution of this lawsuit.

B. Grant a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants from
issuing new regulations limiting the number ofcontinuing
applications, requests for continued examination, and the number
of claims that may be filed with the PTO that are deficient in any
of the ways described in this complaint, or otherwise infringes
GSK's rights in the manner described in this complaint.

C. Enter a declaratory judgment that the Final Rules are, in the
respects denoted above, vague, arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of
discretion or otherwise not in accordance with law (including but
not hmited to the Patent Act), contrary to constitutional right,
power, privilege or iIIJ1Il.unity, and in excess of statutory
jurisdiction, authority or limitations.

D. Vacate the Final Rules as arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of
discretion or otherwise not in accordan.ce with law (including but
not limited to the Patent Act), contrary to constitutional right,
power, privilege or immunity, and in excess of statutory
jurisdiction, authority or limitations.

E. Issue any writs ofmandamus necessary to compel the PTa
to perform n.eglected or unlawfully unperfonned duties.

F- Order such other and further relief as the Court deems
appropriate.

Date: October 9, 2007 Respectfully submitted,

Elizabeth M. Locke (VSB No. 71784)
KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP
655 15th Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20005
Tel: (202) 879-5000
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Of counsel:

John M. Desmarais
Peter J. Annenio
KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP
Citigroup Center
153 East 5300 Street
New York, New York 10022
Tel: (212) 446-4800

F. Christopher Mizzo
Jeffrey Bossert Clark
D. Sean Trainor
Gregory F. Corbett
KJRKLAND & ELLIS LLP
655 15th Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20005
(202) 879-5000

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS

SmithKli.neBeecham Corporation d/b/a
GlaxoSmitbKline, SmithKline Beecham
PLC, an.d Glaxo Grou.p Limited d/b/a
GlaxoSmithKline
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VERIFICATION

I, Sherry M. Knowles, of full age, being duly sworn according to the law, upon

her oath deposes and says:

I am Senior Vice President and Global Head of the Corporate Intellectual

Property ofSmithKline Beecham Corporation (dojng business as GlaxoSmithKJine),

Glaxo Group Limited, and SmithKline Beecham PLC, the plaintiffs in the above matter.

I have reviewed the allegations made in this Verified Complaint and they are true and

accurate to the best ofmy knowledge and belief.

Sworn to and subscribed before me
This 9th day of October, 2007

?J~ {2. LUe~
COMMONWEALTH OF PENN YLVAN
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